THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas  
Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2011-CP-38-1513  
South Carolina Court of Appeals No. 2013-000689

---

BERTHA TYLER, as Guardian of  
HENRIETTA MAYES,

Respondent,

v.

UNIHEALTH POST-ACUTE CARE - ORANGEBURG,  
LLC, and CATHERINE PAVLICK,

Appellants.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

Jason E. Bring, Esquire  
W. Jerad Rissler, Esquire  
Tyler L. Arnold, Esquire  
Arnall Golden Gregory LLP  
171 17<sup>th</sup> Street, NW, Suite 2100  
Atlanta, Georgia 30363  
Phone: (404) 873-8500

Attorneys for Appellants

**RECEIVED**

AUG 08 2013

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in concluding that the Motion to Compel Arbitration was not governed by the Federal Arbitration Act where the parties acknowledged interstate commerce in their arbitration agreement and the Plaintiff alleged in her Complaint that out-of-state companies were responsible for the level of care provided?
  - A. The FAA governs because the parties specifically acknowledged interstate commerce and agreed that the FAA would apply.
  - B. The FAA governs because the transaction between the parties involves interstate commerce.
  - C. *Timms v. Greene* does not apply.
  
- II. Did the trial court err in determining that claims encompassed in the broad scope of an arbitration agreement were not arbitrable because they fell within an “outrageous conduct exception” instead of “directing the parties to proceed to arbitration in accordance with the terms of the agreement” as required by the FAA?
  - A. The FAA requires courts to “direct[] the parties to proceed to arbitration in accordance with the terms of the agreement.”
  - B. The existence of a written agreement to arbitrate is not in dispute.
  - C. Plaintiff’s claims are covered by the broad scope of the Arbitration Agreement and must be enforced.
  - D. The trial court erred in refusing to enforce the Arbitration Agreement “in accordance with the terms of the agreement.”

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves the denial of a motion to compel arbitration of claims in accordance with the terms of a written arbitration agreement.

On December 14, 2011, Plaintiff/Respondent Bertha Tyler (“Plaintiff”) commenced a lawsuit alleging negligence and negligent hiring, supervision and retention of an employee, at a nursing home in Orangeburg, South Carolina. (Complaint.) Plaintiff sued the operator of the nursing home, Unihealth Post-Acute Care – Orangeburg, LLC (“UPAC-Orangeburg”), and the nursing home’s administrator, Crystal Pavlick<sup>1</sup> (collectively referred to herein as “Defendants”). Plaintiff did not sue the employee whose alleged conduct is at issue and did not assert that Defendants were vicariously liable for the alleged acts of the employee. (*Id.*)

Defendants timely served answers to the Complaint on February 6, 2012. (Answers to Complaint.) In their Answers, Defendants asserted as a defense that Plaintiff’s claims were barred pursuant to the terms of an arbitration agreement covering Plaintiff’s claims. (Answers ¶¶ 28-29.)<sup>2</sup> On March 14, 2012, Defendants moved for an order compelling arbitration. (Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration.) Plaintiff filed a response to Defendants’ Motion on September 5, 2012, one day prior to a hearing held on September 6, 2012. (Plaintiff’s Response to Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration; Transcript of Sept. 6, 2012 Hearing.) Following the hearing, the parties submitted to the court additional evidence, letters, and proposed orders regarding their

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellants note that Crystal Pavlick is improperly identified as “Catherine Pavlick” in the caption of Plaintiff’s Complaint.

<sup>2</sup> The Answers of the Defendants were filed concurrently and are identical in all respects material to this appeal. These have been collectively cited as “Answers,” for the sake of brevity.

respective positions. (Defendant UPAC-Orangeburg's Notice of Filing of Articles of Organization; Defendants' October 5, 2012 Letter; Plaintiff's October 18, 2012 Letter; Defendants' October 25, 2012 Letter; Plaintiff's Proposed Order; Defendants' Proposed Order.) On February 12, 2013, the trial court entered an order denying Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. (Feb. 12, 2013 Order.) Defendants received a copy of the Order on February 27, 2013. On March 28, 2013, Defendants filed a Notice of Appeal. (Notice of Appeal.)

## FACTS

Defendant UPAC-Orangeburg operates a skilled nursing facility known as Unihealth Post-Acute Care – Orangeburg located in Orangeburg, South Carolina (“Orangeburg nursing facility”). Henrietta Mayes has been a resident of the Orangeburg nursing facility since May 7, 2010 and remains a resident.

Ms. Mayes was admitted to the Orangeburg nursing facility by her sister, Bertha Tyler. In connection with Ms. Mayes’s admission to the Orangeburg nursing facility, Ms. Tyler contracted with UPAC-Orangeburg on behalf of Ms. Mayes. Among the contracts that Ms. Tyler entered into on behalf of Ms. Mayes in connection with her admission was a voluntary Arbitration Agreement (“Arbitration Agreement”). Based on the contracts executed by Ms. Tyler on behalf of Ms. Mayes, UPAC-Orangeburg admitted Ms. Mayes to the Orangeburg nursing facility.

The Arbitration Agreement is titled “State of South Carolina ARBITRATION AGREEMENT” and provides in conspicuous type on the first page:

**THE PATIENT/RESIDENT AND THE HEALTHCARE CENTER UNDERSTAND AND ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THIS AGREEMENT IS A VOLUNTARY AGREEMENT TO SUBMIT FOR RESOLUTION BY ARBITRATION ANY DISPUTES THAT MAY ARISE IN THE FUTURE BETWEEN THE PARTIES.**

(Arbitration Agreement, p. 1, Section I (emphasis in original).) The agreement further advises:

**EACH OF THE PARTIES IS WAIVING THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY, AND INSTEAD, ANY DISPUTES BETWEEN THE PARTIES SHALL BE RESOLVED THROUGH BINDING ARBITRATION.**

(*Id.*, p. 1, Section I. (emphasis in original).) The Arbitration Agreement further advises of the “right to seek legal counsel concerning this Agreement;” that “[t]he signing of this

Agreement is not a precondition to admission, expedited admission, or the furnishing of services to the Patient/Resident by the Healthcare Center;” and that the Patient/Resident may revoke the Arbitration Agreement within 30 days following execution. (*Id.*, p. 5, Section IV.) Immediately above the signatures, the Arbitration Agreement again conspicuously advises:

**THIS AGREEMENT GOVERNS IMPORTANT LEGAL RIGHTS. PLEASE READ THE AGREEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY BEFORE SIGNING. THE PARTIES UNDERSTAND AND ACKNOWLEDGE THAT, AS TO ALL DISPUTES THAT ARE GOVERNED BY THIS AGREEMENT, EACH OF THE PARTIES IS WAIVING THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY, AND INSTEAD DISPUTES BETWEEN THE PARTIES SHALL BE RESOLVED THROUGH ARBITRATION.**

(*Id.* at 5.) Ms. Tyler initialed each page of the Arbitration Agreement and signed the final page of the agreement as the “Patient/Resident Representative.” (*Id.*)

The parties agreed that UPAC-Orangeburg’s “business activities substantially affect, relate to, and involve interstate commerce,” and that, therefore, the Arbitration “Agreement shall be governed by and enforced under federal law, specifically, the Federal Arbitration Act. . . .” (*Id.*, p. 4, Section III.A.)

With respect to the scope of the Arbitration Agreement, the parties agreed that “[a]ny and all claims or controversies arising out of or in any way relating to this Agreement or the Patient/Resident’s Admission Agreement . . . or the Patient/Resident’s stay at, or the care or services provided by, [UPAC-Orangeburg], or any acts or omissions in connection with such care or services . . . shall be submitted for arbitration.” (Arbitration Agreement, p. 1, Section I.A.1.) The Arbitration Agreement further provides that such claims are arbitrable regardless of whether they are “for statutory, compensatory or punitive damages, and whether sounding in breach of contract, tort, or

breach of statutory or regulatory duties (including, without limitation . . . , any claim based on negligence [and] any claim based on any other departure from accepted standards of health care or safety . . . ), irrespective of the basis for the duty or legal theories upon which the claim is asserted. . . .” (*Id.*)

Despite the clear terms of the Arbitration Agreement, Plaintiff filed a civil Complaint alleging that the Defendants were liable for injuries that Ms. Mayes allegedly sustained while she was a resident of the Orangeburg nursing facility. (Complaint.) Plaintiff alleges that Ms. Mayes was the victim of a sexual assault by an employee of UPAC-Orangeburg. (*See id.*) Plaintiff alleges that UPAC-Orangeburg was negligent, including in the hiring, supervision, and retention of the employee who allegedly assaulted Ms. Mayes. (*See id.*) Plaintiff did not sue the employee whose conduct is at issue and has not alleged that Defendants are vicariously liable for the employee’s actions. (*See id.*)

The Defendants filed Answers denying the material allegations of the Complaint and specifically noted that UPAC-Orangeburg “conducted a criminal background check of Mr. Williams on February 2, 2010 [pre-hire], in accordance with applicable state and federal law, and the criminal check returned no criminal record.” (Answers ¶¶ 9-11.) The Defendants further asserted that Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the Arbitration Agreement. (*Id.* ¶¶ 28-29.) Defendants then moved to compel arbitration of the claims asserted in the Complaint. (Defendants’ Memorandum in Support of Motion to Compel Arbitration.) The court denied Defendants’ motion, concluding that the parties’ transaction did not involve interstate commerce and that the Plaintiff’s allegations “would

fall into the outrageous conduct exception” to arbitration. (Feb. 12, 2013 Order at 6.) It is from the denial of this motion that the Defendants appeal.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The question of arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination unless the parties provide otherwise. The determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to de novo review. However, in deciding whether the parties have agreed to submit a particular grievance to arbitration, a court is not to rule on the potential merits of the underlying claims.” *Landers v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corp.*, 739 S.E. 2d 209, 213 (S.C. 2013) (citations and quotation marks omitted).

### ARGUMENTS

**I. The trial court erred in concluding that the Motion to Compel Arbitration was not governed by the Federal Arbitration Act because the transaction involves interstate commerce.**

The FAA provides that “[a] written provision in . . . a contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract or transaction . . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. The FAA applies in federal or state court to any arbitration agreement that “in fact” involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction. *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001).<sup>3</sup>

The South Carolina Court of Appeals has succinctly stated:

---

<sup>3</sup> *Munoz* expressly overruled *Mathews v. Fluor Corp.*, 312 S.C. 404, 440 S.E.2d 880 (1994), to the extent that the *Mathews* court considered “whether the parties contemplated interstate commerce as a factor in determining if the FAA applied.” *Munoz*, at n. 3.

The words 'involving commerce' have been interpreted by the United States Supreme Court as being the functional equivalent of 'affecting commerce'-words signaling 'an intent to exercise Congress' commerce power to the full.' *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 277, 115 S.Ct. 834, 130 L.Ed.2d 753 (1995) . . . 'Because the statute provides for the enforcement of arbitration agreements within the full reach of the Commerce Clause, it is perfectly clear that the FAA encompasses a wider range of transactions than those actually in commerce-that is, within the flow of interstate commerce.' *Citizens Bank [v. Alafabco, Inc.]*, 539 U.S. [52,] [] 56, 123 S.Ct. [2037,] [] 2040 [(2003)].

*Thornton v. Trident Medical Center, LLC*, 357 S.C. 91, 95, 592 S.E.2d 50, 52 (Ct. App. 2004). "To ascertain whether a transaction involves commerce within the meaning of the FAA, the court must examine the agreement, the complaint, and the surrounding facts." *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates*, 346 S.C. 580, 594, 553 S.E.2d 110, 117 (2001).

**A. The FAA governs because the parties specifically acknowledged interstate commerce and agreed that the FAA would apply.**

In the Arbitration Agreement, the parties specifically acknowledged that their transaction involved interstate commerce and would be governed by the FAA because UPAC-Orangeburg's "business activities substantially affect, relate to, and involve interstate commerce." (Arbitration Agreement, p. 4, Section III.A.) South Carolina courts have held that such agreement alone is sufficient to invoke the FAA.<sup>4</sup> Courts outside of

---

<sup>4</sup> See, e.g., *Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 125, 130, 678 S.E.2d 435, 438 (2009) ("The parties' arbitration agreement provides that the arbitration shall be administered pursuant to the FAA."); *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 539, 542 S.E.2d at 363-364 ("Here, the arbitration agreement which applies to 'this contract and the relationships which result from this contract,' provides it shall be governed by the FAA. Arbitration agreements, like other contracts, are enforceable in accordance with their terms."); *McCutcheon v. THI of S.C. at Charleston, LLC*, 2011 U.S. Dist. Lexis 144288 at \*13 (D.S.C. Dec. 15, 2011) ("The Arbitration Agreement here clearly states that 'the services and reimbursement thereof effects a transaction that involves interstate commerce.' [cit.] Courts look to the terms of the arbitration agreement itself as evidence of whether the transaction involves interstate commerce."); *THI of S.C. at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins*, 2011 U.S. Dist. Lexis 103638 at \*4, n.3 (D.S.C. Sept. 13, 2011) ("The parties here do not dispute that the FAA applies.").

South Carolina agree that the parties' acknowledgment that the arbitration agreement involves interstate commerce and will be governed by the FAA is dispositive of the issue.<sup>5</sup> Accordingly, the parties are entitled to rely on their stipulation that their transaction involves interstate commerce and that the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the FAA, and the trial court erred in holding that this matter did not involve interstate commerce.<sup>6</sup>

**B. The FAA governs because the transaction between the parties involves interstate commerce.**

In addition to the parties' express acknowledgment in the agreement that their transaction involved interstate commerce, the affidavit of the nursing home's administrator, the surrounding facts, and the allegations in the Complaint all evidence interstate commerce. Brenda Parris, an administrator at UPAC-Orangeburg, provided specific examples of how interstate commerce is involved in the operation of the nursing home facility. (Affidavit of Brenda Parris ("Parris Aff."), Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration, Exhibit B.) For example, UPAC-Orangeburg uses materials and supplies which come from out-of-state in the day-to-day operation of the facility; the fees for services rendered are paid for through federal reimbursement funds and by out-of-state

---

<sup>5</sup> See, e.g., *Bales v. Arbor Manor*, 2008 U.S. Dist. Lexis 99215 (D. Neb. July 3, 2008) (involving stipulation in admission agreement that interstate activity was involved); *Thomas v. Cook*, 350 S.W.3d 382 (Tex. App. 2011) (holding that when the parties expressly invoke the FAA in the arbitration agreement, the FAA governs and the parties are not required to establish that the transaction at issue affects interstate commerce); *In re Choice Homes, Inc.*, 174 S.W.3d 408 (Tex. App. 2005) (same); *In re Ledet*, 2004 Tex. App. Lexis 11474 (Tex. App. Dec. 22, 2004) (holding that when parties agree to arbitrate under the FAA, no independent showing of interstate commerce is necessary).

<sup>6</sup> The trial court's conclusion that "parties cannot 'stipulate' to interstate commerce that would invoke the FAA," (Feb. 12, 2013 Order at 5) is not supported by any cited authority and is contrary to the numerous cases inside and outside of South Carolina applying the FAA based on the parties' stipulation (either in the arbitration agreement or before the trial court). See cases cited *supra*, notes 3 and 4.

insurance companies; and some residents come to the facility from outside the State of South Carolina. (Parris Aff. ¶¶ 4-6, 8; *see also* Arbitration Agreement, p. 4, Section III.A.) Moreover, a portion of Ms. Mayes's care at the Orangeburg nursing facility was paid by Medicaid, a state and federal government system of health insurance for those requiring financial assistance. (Parris Aff. ¶ 7.)

UPAC-Orangeburg is a citizen of Georgia because one of its members is a Georgia citizen. (UPAC-Orangeburg Articles of Organization; UPAC-Orangeburg Operating Agreement, p. 31.)<sup>7</sup> *See General Technology Applications, Inc. v. Exro Ltda*, 388 F. 3d 114, 120 (4th Cir. 2004) (an LLC is assigned the citizenship of each state in which its members are citizens). Therefore, the Complaint, on its face, avers a relationship involving interstate commerce under the provisions of the FAA. *See Pickering v. Urbantus, LLC*, 827 F. Supp. 2d 1010 (S.D. Iowa 2011) (noting that the FAA is applicable to nursing facilities that are operated by entities from other states). Moreover, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants' actions in this case are governed by federal law. (Complaint ¶ 14(f) (alleging that Defendants were negligent in allegedly violating "*federal* regulation requiring actions to protect the safety and health of residents, so as to constitute negligence per se") (emphasis added).) Accordingly, Plaintiff's own Complaint demonstrates that the transaction between the parties involved interstate commerce.

---

<sup>7</sup> The trial court found that "[t]he Defendants have provided no evidence as to the identity and citizenship of the individual members of the LLC." (Feb. 12, 2013 Order at 3, n. 1.) However, Defendants provided the trial court with UPAC-Orangeburg's Articles of Organization and Operating Agreement, along with an explanation of the citizenship of UPAC-Orangeburg. (Defendant UPAC-Orangeburg's Notice of Filing of Articles of Organization; Defendants' October 5, 2012 Letter; Defendants' October 25, 2012 Letter.)

C. ***Timms v. Greene* does not apply.**

In reaching its conclusion that interstate commerce was not implicated and thus the FAA was inapplicable, the trial court based its decision on *Timms v. Greene*, 310 S.C. 469, 427 S.E.2d 642 (1993). (Feb. 12, 2013 Order at 3-5.) In *Timms*, the parties had not agreed that their transaction involved interstate commerce or that their arbitration agreement would be governed by the FAA. *Timms* is distinguishable on that basis alone. Moreover, *Timms* relied on a narrow interpretation of “involving commerce” that has since been rejected by the United States Supreme Court. *Allied-Bruce*, 513 U.S. 265. South Carolina consistently has followed *Allied-Bruce*. See, e.g., *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 454-55, 730 S.E.2d 312, 315-16 (2012); see also *Citizens Bank*, 539 U.S. 52 (holding no elaborate explanation needed to show an impact on interstate commerce upon consideration of the ‘general practice’ those transactions represent). The trial court erred in ignoring the evidence of interstate commerce (including the parties’ acknowledgement) and in relying on *Timms* and failing to rely on the more recent cases following *Allied-Bruce*. See *Thornton*, 357 S.C. 91 (recognizing that appropriate standard is now the much broader “affecting commerce”).

II. **The trial court erred in determining that claims encompassed in the broad scope of the Arbitration Agreement were not arbitrable based on an “outrageous conduct exception” instead of “directing the parties to proceed to arbitration in accordance with the terms of the agreement” as required by the FAA.**

A. **The FAA requires courts to “direct[] the parties to proceed to arbitration in accordance with the terms of the agreement.”**

“Once it is determined that the FAA applies to a dispute, federal substantive law regarding arbitrability controls.” *Landers*, 739 S.E.2d at 213 (citing *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 626, 105 S.Ct. 3346, 87 L.Ed.2d

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