THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
SEP 23 2013
SC COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2013-000689
Case No.: 2011-CP-38-1513

Bertha Tyler, as Guardian of Henrietta Mayes, Respondent,

v.

Uni-Health Post-Acute Care-Orangeburg,
LLC and Catherine Pavlick, Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John D. Kassel, Esquire (SC Bar 03268)
Theile B. McVey, Esquire (SC Bar 16682)
KASSEL McVEY, ATTORNEYS AT LAW
P O Box 1476
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
803-256-4242
803-256-1952

Shane M. Burroughs, Esquire
250 Gibson Street
Orangeburg, South Carolina 29115
803-268-9800

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

A. This Case is in Line with the Supreme Court’s Opinion in *Aiken v. World Finance Corporation of South Carolina*

The South Carolina Supreme Court enunciated an exception to arbitration agreements. If conduct is unforeseeable to the parties and outrageous in nature, then the dispute is not arbitrable. In *Aiken*, as in the case at bar, the Plaintiff sued a finance company for the acts of its employees. The Plaintiff alleged causes of action for outrage, emotional distress, negligence, negligent hiring and negligent supervision as well as unfair trade practices, arising from the finance company’s former employees’ misuse of the plaintiff’s

personal information and embezzled money. In that case, Aiken obtained a series of consumer loans from World Finance beginning in 1997 and continuing through late 1999. He paid off his last loan in 2000. With each loan, Aiken entered into an arbitration agreement with World Finance. Each arbitration agreement provided that:

ALL DISPUTES, CONTROVERSIES OR CLAIMS OF ANY KIND AND NATURE BETWEEN LENDER AND BORROWER ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE LOAN AGREEMENT, OR ARISING OUT OF ANY TRANSACTION OR RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN LENDER AND BORROWER OR ARISING OUT OF ANY PRIOR OR FUTURE DEALINGS BETWEEN LENDER AND BORROWER SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO ARBITRATION.....”(emphasis added).

Aiken then sued World Finance, the employer of the former embezzling employees.

The Court stated:

Because even the most broadly-worded arbitration agreements still have limits founded in general principles of contract law, this Court will refuse to interpret any arbitration agreement as applying to outrageous torts that are unforeseeable to a reasonable consumer in the context of normal business dealings....in this case, we find the theft of Aiken’s personal information by World Finance employees to be outrageous conduct that Aiken could not possibly have foreseen when he agreed to do business with World Finance. Consequently, in signing the agreement to arbitrate, Aiken could not possibly have been agreeing to provide an alternate forum for settling claims arising from this wholly unexpected tortious conduct. Accordingly, we hold that Aiken’s claims for unanticipated and unforeseeable tortious conduct by World Finance’s employees are not within the scope of the arbitration agreement with World Finance.

Appellants argue that Ms. Mayes claims still fall into the arbitration agreement because the arbitration at issue here provides that *all disputes* shall be arbitrated. In Aiken, as noted above, the arbitration provision also provided that *all disputes* shall be arbitrated. The Supreme Court held that even the “*all disputes*” language would not save unforeseen tortious conduct from being arbitrated. Interestingly, the plaintiff in Aiken alleged the same

causes of action in that case (negligent hiring and negligent supervision) that are alleged in the case before this Court.

However, the Appellants instead argue that this case is more in line with the South Carolina Supreme Court case of *Landers v. Federal Deposit Ins., Corp.*, 402 S.C. 100, 739 S.E.2d 209 (2013). The *Landers* case involved an arbitration clause within an employment contract. In that case, the Plaintiff sued his former employer because the actions of his superior, he alleged, made it difficult to do his job. In that case, the Court held:

[I]n light of the breadth of the Agreement and the particular manner in which Landers has pled his underlying factual allegations, we find Landers' tort claims significantly relate to the Agreement. The perceived inability to perform one's *job* certainly relates to an *employment* contract.

(Emphasis in original.) That is clearly not the issue here. Even assuming the arbitration agreement is valid, the arbitration agreement here would address with the medical care that Ms. Mayes received at the facility. Mayes/Tyler could not possibly have been agreeing to provide an alternate forum for negligent hiring and supervision that resulted in a sexual assault. This conduct, under any interpretation, was unanticipated and unforeseeable.

B. *Aiken* does not violate the holding in *Marmet Health Care Center, Inc. v. Brown, et al.*

The Appellants further argue that the recent United States Supreme Court case of *Marmet Health Care Center, Inc., v. Brown, et al* 565 U.S. ___ (2012) weakens the holding in *Aiken*. In *Marmet*, the Supreme Court addressed the issue of arbitration in three nursing home neglect cases. In each of those cases, a family member of a patient who had died sued the nursing home in state court alleging that negligence caused injuries or harm resulting in death. The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia held that “as a matter of public

policy under West Virginia law, an arbitration clause in a nursing home admission agreement adopted prior to an occurrence of negligence that results in a personal injury or wrongful death, shall not be enforced to compel arbitration of a dispute concerning the negligence.”

The US Supreme Court overruled the West Virginia Court with the following language:

As this Court reaffirmed last Term, “[W]hen state law prohibits outright the arbitration of a particular type of claim, the analysis is straightforward: the conflicting rule is displaced by the FAA.” *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. ___, ___ (2011) (slip op., at 6-7). That rule resolves these cases. West Virginia’s prohibition against predispute agreements to arbitrate personal injury or wrongful death claims against nursing homes is a categorical rule prohibiting arbitration of a particular type of claim and that rule is contrary to the terms and coverage of the FAA.

The Defendants argue that the Supreme Court’s ruling in *Aiken* runs afoul of the U.S. Supreme Court’s prohibition against categorical rules. The South Carolina Supreme Court addressed this very issue in *Aiken*. The Court said:

In establishing the line for claims subject to arbitration, this Court does not seek to exclude all intentional torts from the scope of arbitration. For instance, the parties in the instant case stipulate that a tort claim which essentially alleges a breach of the underlying contract (e.g., breach of fiduciary duty, misappropriation of trade secrets) would be within the contemplation of the parties in agreeing to arbitrate. We only seek to distinguish those outrageous torts, which although factually related to the performance of the contract, are legally distinct from the contractual relationship between the parties. See, *McMahon v. RMS Electronics, Inc.*, 618 F.Supp. 189, 191 (S.D.N.Y. 1985).

Our decision today does not ignore the state and federal policies favoring arbitration as a less formal and more efficient means for resolving disputes. See, *Lackey v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 330 S.C. 388, 386, 498 S.E.2d 898, 902 (Ct. App., 1998). This Court merely seeks, as a matter of public policy, to promote the procurement of arbitration in a commercially reasonable manner. To interpret an arbitration agreement to apply to actions completely outside the expectations of the parties would be inconsistent with this goal.

The *Aiken* case complies with the Supreme Court's mandate not to create categorical rules prohibiting arbitration. The facts at issue in this case could not have been foreseen by the parties. Therefore, like in *Aiken*, the alleged acts here are so outrageous as to fall outside of the scope of the arbitration agreement.

II. The Agreement does not involve interstate commerce, therefore the FAA does not apply.

A. The Arbitration Agreement at Issue Does Not Involve Interstate Commerce.

The Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") provides that a written provision in any contract involving interstate commerce that requires disputes be resolved by arbitration shall be "valid, irrevocable and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." *See*, 9 U.S.C. section 2 (1988). If interstate commerce is affected, the FAA will preempt state laws that would otherwise render the arbitration agreement unenforceable. *Id.*

As the Supreme Court of the United States recently stated, "We have interpreted the term 'involving commerce' in the FAA as the functional equivalent of the more familiar term 'affecting commerce' - words of art that ordinarily signal the broadest permissible exercise of Congress' Commerce Clause Power." *Citizens Bank v. Alafabco, Inc.*, 539 U.S. 52, 56 (2003). The Court added, "[T]o be sure, the power to regulate commerce, though broad indeed, has its limits." *Citizens Bank*, at 58. The United States Supreme Court looked at the particular economic transactions as well as the nature of the legal practice at issue in finding those activities involved commerce or "affected" commerce.

In this case, the arbitration agreement is between Uni-Health PAC Orangeburg, LLC, South Carolina limited liability corporation¹, and Henrietta Mayes and Bertha Tyler, South Carolina residents. Mr. Williams was a South Carolina resident. All of the actions between the parties took place in South Carolina. It appears the hiring was done in South Carolina; the training was done in South Carolina; the supervision was done in South Carolina; the retention was done in South Carolina; and the assault was in South Carolina. In none of the affidavits supplied by Appellants did they argue that any of these transactions between the parties forming the basis of the dispute occurred outside of South Carolina. The arbitration provision and the agreement of the parties is not a transaction involving interstate commerce. Unlike the commercial lending and debt-refinancing transactions in *Citizens Bank*, providing managed care in a nursing facility is not the kind of activity that Congress intended to regulate across state lines. Although Appellants outline various activities that may involve people from outside of South Carolina, and its involvement in the State's Medicaid program, there is simply nothing about the purported agreement in this case that affects interstate commerce. *See, also, Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, ___ S.C. ___, 731 S.E.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2012). (Noting that under the facts surrounding the agreement, Flexon was a South Carolina resident, and Coastal hired him to provide medical services "at the medical practice office located at 1010 Medical Center Drive, Hardeeville, South Carolina...and such other practice

¹ The Circuit Court found that the Defendants did not produce any evidence as to the identity and citizenship of the individual members of the LLC. Defendants, following the hearing, later attempted to produce additional documents that they allege show that one member of the LLC was from Georgia. However, that evidence was untimely and not before the Court. Therefore, the only evidence before this Court is that Uni-Health PAC Orangeburg, LLC is a South Carolina limited liability corporation.

sites in Beaufort and Jasper counties as may be reasonably designated by [PHC] from time to time...”, the Court held the agreement and the surrounding facts in that case did not implicate interstate commerce.)

This issue was addressed by the South Carolina Supreme Court in a nursing home context in the case of *Timms v. Green*, 310 S.C. 469, 427 S.E.2d 642 (1993). The *Timms* case involved an action by a nursing home resident seeking damages for injuries sustained while she was left unattended under a hair dryer at the defendant’s facility. The arbitration agreement between Timms and the Defendant required submission of any dispute to binding arbitration. The Defendant argued that interstate commerce was involved in the contract as the defendant was a division of a national corporation; it hired employees from out of state; it marketed its services out of state; purchased the majority of its goods and equipment from out of state; and contemplated payments from Medicare and Medicaid. The lower court disagreed with the Defendants’ position finding the contract did not involve interstate commerce. This was affirmed on appeal by the Supreme Court. The Court in *Timms* states, “[A]lthough these factors could evidence the center’s involvement in interstate commerce, we find that their relationship to the agreement between the center and the respondent is insufficient to form the basis of a contract between the parties.” *Id.*

Interstate commerce is a necessary basis for the application of the FAA. Because interstate commerce was absent in the contract between Timms and the Defendant, the Supreme Court refused to require arbitration because Timms’ cause of action was not subject to the Arbitration Act of South Carolina and the FAA was not applicable.

In this case, there is no evidence of interstate commerce in the arbitration agreement between the parties. Here, the Appellants attempt to create interstate commerce by filing an affidavit from Brenda Parris, the administrator for UPAC-Orangeburg. She states in her affidavit that, (1) the care and services provided by UPAC-Orangeburg to Ms. Mayes would not have been possible were it not for supplies, materials and services provided by entities located outside the state of South Carolina; (2) UPAC-Orangeburg routinely provides nursing services to residents from other states, mostly the Southeast; (3) Uni-Health participates in and receives reimbursements under the Medicare and Medicaid programs; (4) accepts insurance payments from out-of-state insurance companies; and, (5) that Ms. Mayes received Medicaid benefits. These same factors were rejected under *Timms*. There, the Supreme Court of South Carolina found the affidavit failed to demonstrate interstate commerce sufficient to save the arbitration provision, a provision almost identical to the one at issue here.

B. *Timms v. Greene* is still good law

The Appellants contend that *Timms v. Greene* is no longer good law in light of *Citizens Bank*. However, *Timms* remains good law. It has been cited with approval in a number of cases since 2003, the year the Supreme Court of the United States filed *Citizens Bank*. See, e.g., *McElveen v. Mike Reichenbach Ford Lincoln, Inc.*, C/A No. 4:12-874-RBH-KDW (D.S.C. filed Aug. 12, 2012) (2012 WL 3964973) (citing *Timms* but distinguishing it); *Lucey v. Meyer*, 401 S.C. 122 736 S.E.2d 274 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing to *Timms* in ruling on whether the agreement in that case involved interstate commerce); *New Hope Missionary*

Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders, 379 S.C. 620, 667 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing to *Timms* when making determination of whether agreement involved interstate commerce).

The Appellants' contention that interstate commerce is stipulated between the parties to the agreement is equally unavailing. Although the contract between the parties in this case contained an acknowledgment that Uni-Health was engaged in interstate commerce, the contract or transaction which is sought to be enforced must *itself* involve interstate commerce. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc.*, 346 S.C. 580, 533 S.E.2d 110 (2001). Just as parties cannot "stipulate" to subject matter jurisdiction, parties cannot "stipulate" to interstate commerce that would invoke the FAA. "Like the construction of a contract, it is improper subject for stipulation and any attempted stipulation is not binding on a court." *Morris v. Beacham*, 262 S.E.2d 921 (1980). Saying something "evidences a transaction involving commerce" does not make it so. Assuming the validity of the Agreement, the Court must still analyze whether the agreement itself involves interstate commerce despite any labels the parties may give it.

III. Ms. Tyler Lacked Authority to Enter into an Arbitration Agreement².

A. Ms. Tyler Lacked both Actual and Apparent Authority to Enter into an Arbitration Agreement.

The Arbitration Agreement also fails for lack of standing. Ms. Tyler did not have actual authority to bind Ms. Mayes to the arbitration agreement. She did not have a power

² SCAR Rule 220(c) Affirmance on Any Ground Appearing in Record provides: "the appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the record." Although the Trial Court did not address the authority or unconscionability issue in her Order, both issues were raised by the Respondent and the briefs appear in the record.

of attorney nor was she the guardian or conservator for Ms. Mayes. Not only did Ms. Tyler not have actual authority, there is no evidence that Ms. Tyler had the apparent authority to enter into an arbitration agreement.

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